
 

 

 

 

Performance Advisory Group  

(PAG) 95 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Location: MS Teams 

 

Date and time: 30 July 2025, 1000 - 1100 

 

Status of minutes: FINAL 

 

  

mosl.co.uk Company No: 9276929 



 

 
1 PAG95 30 July 2025 

Meeting Minutes 
 

Market attendees 

Name (Initial) Role/Organisation Name (Initial) Role/Organisation 

Adam Boyns AB CCW (O) Mary Porter-

Chorley 

MPC South Staffs (W) 

Andrea Burnett ABu Northumbrian (W) Noel Bradley NB Yorkshire (W)  

Daniel Proctor DP Water Plus (R)  Pam Nash PN C&C (O) 

David Moss DMo Castle (R) Paul Baker PB Business Stream (R) 

Gerard Lyden GL Thames (W) Paul Walmsley PW Yorkshire (W) 

Jay Efford JE Yorkshire (W) Peter Strain PS Castle (R)  

Jon Fuller JF Wessex (W) Rob Hetherington RH Ofwat (O) 

Jordanna Lo JL Business Stream (R) Tim Brewer TB Wessex (W)  

Julie-Ann Anderson JAA SES (R) Tom Wells TW Southern (W)  

Letoia Mann LM Clear Business (R)  Wendy Monk WM Wave (R)  

Mark Howell MH Waterplus (R)     

 

 

MOSL Attendees 

Name (Initial) Role Name (Initial) Role 

Miles Robinson MR Chair Huan Zhang HZ Observer 

Oli Robins OR Presenter Huw Comerford HC Observer 

Evan Joanette EJ Presenter Sam Webb SW Observer 

Alexandra Piper AP Observer Sauda Dickinson SD Notes 

Amy English AE Observer Toby Hunt TH Observer 

 

 

 

  

1. Welcome & update 

 MR welcomed all members to the meeting and confirmed the agenda.  



 

 
2 PAG95 30 July 2025 

MR reminded attendees that agenda, minutes and slides are published on the MOSL website 

for review and questions and comments to be sent via mpfreform@mosl.co.uk.  

MR presented the MPF Programme progress overview. 

MR presented the MPF Programme delivery plan overview and timeline. 

 

2. Update on performance standards and charges (M19) 

 OR presented an Introduction on performance data for cyclic and transfer meter reads, as on 

slide 8. 

OR presented a Reminder of M19 Charges and Standards, as on slide 9. 

 

TW queried whether CPW162 covered provisions for skip codes for non-market meter reads.  

 

OR presented Market performance for M19 – biannual non-smart non-market meters, as 

on slide 10. 

OR presented Market performance for M19 – other splits, as on slide 11. 

OR presented M19 – impact on charges, as on slide 12. 

OR presented an Overall Summary, as on slide 13. 

 

GB queried whether, along with MPS13 and MPS14, MPS12 had also been included under the 

M19 calculation comparisons. 

 

Further discussion after the non-metric requirements discussion: 

In the meeting chat, OR advised that MPS12 is not yet included in the market chart presented, 

MPS12 performance is consistently high so would add about 1-3% to monthly MPS charges 

on top of MPS13 and MPS14. 

 

In the meeting chat DM advised – “with M19 - It's not clear to me which Bilateral a Wholesaler 

would raise for flagging a non-market meter as being 'outwith control'?” and confirmed that 

“there's only B11 for requesting a non-market meter read pending transfer or allocation, and 

B3 meter accuracy tests. From my understanding, C1 and B5 I believe do not have the correct 

validations and data items to cover non-market notifications.”  

 

In the meeting chat, HC confirmed that skip codes can be submitted for non-market meters as 

part of 'Skip Codes' CPW162. Wholesalers would be able to submit skips using T105.W and 

remove them using TCORR171.W.  

 

3. Non-metric requirements 

 EJ presented an overview of the Non-metric Requirements, as on slides 16-17. 

 

mailto:mpfreform@mosl.co.uk


 

 
3 PAG95 30 July 2025 

GL queried what the Code documents states that the PAC will decide whether inflationary 

increases will increase.  

 

EJ confirmed that the Codes state that there will definitely be an inflationary increase unless the 

PAC advises otherwise. 

 

GL queried whether the PAC’s ability to adjust standards applied to all the KPIs or whether there 

were nuances in the Codes as some KPI standards are already closer to 100% and queried 

whether the Codes alludes to the fact that the PAC will conduct an impact assessment before 

adjusting the standards.  

 

EJ advised that the Codes do not explicitly state KPI nuances but noted that the PAC will have to 

focus on the market impact when considering adjusting the standards. The Codes note that 

there will be industry engagement around adjustment decisions. 

 

EJ confirmed that adjustments made to the performance standards will be made outside of the 

Codes and that only adjustments made to charges will be done through a Code Change.  

 

EJ provided a CAG progress update and advised that Code documents agreed on by the CAG 

have been published ahead of the CCC meeting for the industry’s perusal.  

 

GL advised that having the initial standards set out in the Codes may cause confusion, 

suggesting that the initial standards not be set out in the Codes and only reference the separate 

document where standards are set and adjusted.  

 

EJ advised that the CAG had decided to have the initial standards called out in the Code 

documents, but that the Codes reference that standards will be adjusted in a separate 

document. 

 

Chat comment from GL – “for clarity I think it is right that the PAC flex does not apply to BR-

MeX KPIs, which makes sense as performance standards are not set in the same way.” 

  

EJ confirmed that the ability for the PAC to adjust standards does not apply to the BR-MeX 

metrics as the BR-MeX metrics do not have a performance standard applied to them and are 

being incentivized through Ofwat. 

 

4. Feedback on Shadow Reports – Open Discussion 



 

 
4 PAG95 30 July 2025 

 MR invited feedback from attendees on their experiences with the Shadow Reports. 

 

GB advised that the reports have all the data needed and the charges calculation guidance is 

helpful.  

 

OR advised that the programme team is progressing on the charging report and will provide an 

update in the coming weeks. 

 

DP advised that the time of the last read is blank in the reports for periods over ten 

months and advised that it would be useful to have to validate failed reads against 

previous months.  

 

EJ advised that the metric was built to only have a seven-month lookback period and that the 

reports have been limited to seven months as part of ensuring the reports were simpler and 

easier to run.  

 

Chat comment from TB – “I'm a bit confused by the SLA Names on the M19 dashboard. 

Given that External/Internal is the standard description for meter location, why are the 

SLA's labelled as Outside/Inside. Seems a little inconsistent.” 

 

EJ advised that MOSL would note the inconsistency of terms on the change log as a potential 

future cosmetic change.  

 

DM queried whether there would be any risks or challenges around enabling Retailers to see all 

Retailers’ performance data or what the reasoning was around Retailers only being able to see 

their own data. 

 

SW advised that trading parties are only able to see their own data during the Shadow period 

and that discussions will be had around publishing all data after the Shadow period.  

 

DM advised that consumption data should be provided as part of understanding the difference 

between the performance of trading parties, querying whether those discussions have been 

had. 

 

MR advised that it could be discussed as part of future changes through the PAC but will not 

form part of the MPF reform programme.  

 



 

 
5 PAG95 30 July 2025 

GL advised that the reports are working well overall but suggested that including the 

total late days for M15 and M18 for all trading parties in the peer comparison would be 

helpful.  

 

SW advised that MOSL would review and potentially include the late days into the peer 

comparison report. 

 

DM queried whether there was a way to download the underlying detailed data on the 

Dashboard. 

 

SW advised that adding the line-by-line data behind the dashboard to extract would slow 

things down as the data set would be too massive, noting that the line-level data for an 

individual trading party would be available on MyFiles.  

 

DM queried whether it would be possible to provide the open data to all competitive 

Retailers for comparison data. MOSL to review with the digital team advise. 

 

GB requested having the ability to have a peer comparison line-level split 

(monthly/biannual, external/internal splits) on the market level report. 

 

SW advised that MOSL would review the possibility of adding a line level split to the peer 

comparison reporting.   

 

5. Upcoming PAG workshop(s) & AOB 

 MR provided an overview of the upcoming workshops and the planning for Phase 2. 

 

As there were no AOBs raised, MR closed the meeting.  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

  

 


